

Cardiovascular Disease and the Case for Prevention

FEBRUARY 2025





Table of Contents

Introduction: CVD and the Case for Prevention	3
CVD: The Leading Global Killer	3
Why Focus on Prevention?	4
Defining Prevention Along a Continuum	6
The Prevention Continuum	6
The Economic Case for Prevention	8
Case Studies: Governments Advancing CVD Prevention through Innovation, Early Detection, and Cost-Saving Strategies	9
Germany and Czechia	9
United States	10
Indonesia	10
Policy-Driven Solutions for CVD Prevention: Barriers, Opportunities, and Actions	11
Barriers to Prevention	11
Opportunities and Policy Actions	11
Key Policy Actions	12
Expand Access to Prevention, Treatment, and Community-Based Care	12
Leverage Innovation for Scalable Solutions	12
Establish Measurable Prevention Metrics	13
Foster Integrated, Interdisciplinary Care	13
Call to Action	13



INTRODUCTION: Cardiovascular Disease and the Case for Prevention

CVD: The Leading Global Killer

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the world's leading cause of death, claiming millions of lives each year. Among its forms, atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) is the primary driver, affecting 28.6 million U.S. adults in 2020 alone. Globally, ASCVD cases are projected to surpass 184 million by 2050, with direct medical costs exceeding \$200 billion annually. By mid-century, CVD-related deaths could rise from 20.5 million in 2025 to 35.6 million, placing immense societal and economic burdens.^{1,2}

Despite its widespread impact, CVD has been deprioritized on the global health agenda, stalling progress and allowing mortality rates to climb. Reestablishing CVD prevention as a global priority is urgent. Integrating preventive strategies—primordial, primary, secondary, and tertiary—across healthcare systems can address root causes, reduce healthcare strain, and promote healthier communities.³

CVD-Related Deaths 2025 20.5 million 2050 35.6 million

ASCVD: A Leading Threat

ASCVD, the leading cause of death worldwide, occurs when plaque builds up in arteries, restricting blood flow and triggering heart attacks and strokes.^{4,5} It accounts for four out of five cardiovascular deaths.⁶ Despite being largely preventable through healthy lifestyles, routine monitoring, and lipid lowering therapies, ASCVD prevalence continues to rise.^{7,8}

Managing modifiable risk factors—including high cholesterol, hypertension, tobacco use, and physical inactivity—is essential. Prevention strategies must combine lifestyle interventions with effective treatment. As global populations age, prioritizing ASCVD prevention is critical to mitigating its rising health and economic toll.⁹,¹⁰,¹¹,¹²,¹³



LDL: A Critical Factor in Heart Health

Low-density lipoprotein (LDL), or "bad cholesterol," is a causal driver of ASCVD.¹⁴,¹⁵ It accumulates in arteries, forming plaques that heighten the risk of heart attacks and strokes. The longer LDL remains elevated, the greater the risk–making early, aggressive, and sustained management essential.¹⁶

Although effective treatments exist, millions—especially older adults—fail to reach recommended LDL targets.¹⁷, ¹⁸ As populations age, controlling LDL is vital to reducing heart disease, promoting healthier aging, and alleviating the growing burden of CVD.

To learn more about LDL risks for older people and LDL management, read GCOA's <u>report</u> on improving cardiovascular health through LDL management.

Why Focus on Prevention?

Prevention is both a medical necessity and a strategic response to increasing pressures on patients, healthcare systems, and economies. As populations age, these pressures will intensify, making prevention a fundamental pillar of healthcare sustainability.¹⁹ Countries that invest a higher percentage of GDP in healthcare tend to have lower CVD mortality rates, underscoring the role of strong systems in advancing preventive care. Yet, gaps in access, adoption, and effectiveness persist. Closing these gaps is essential to maximizing prevention's impact.²⁰

- **Better for Patients:** Prevention improves quality of life by slowing disease progression, reducing hospitalizations, and minimizing complications. Early interventions empower individuals to make informed lifestyle choices, undergo routine screenings, and access preventive care.
- **Better for Healthcare Systems:** Prevention reduces costly acute events like heart attacks and strokes, easing financial strain and optimizing resource allocation. Scalable prevention models can improve healthcare access and system resilience.
- **Better for Society:** A healthier population reduces economic burdens on families, communities, and governments. Prevention minimizes lost workdays, boosts productivity, and cuts long-term healthcare costs. Timely, effective treatment further improves outcomes while containing expenses.

By embedding prevention at the core of CVD management, stakeholders can foster healthier, more sustainable futures.



CVD, Multimorbidities, and Aging

CVD is closely linked with other health conditions, making its prevention a gateway to broader health improvements. Age is the strongest predictor of CVD, as physiological changes such as oxidative stress and inflammation heighten risk.²¹ CVD prevalence rises sharply with age, affecting approximately 40% of adults aged 40-59, 75% of those aged 60-79, and 86% of individuals over 80.²²,²³

Beyond biological aging, perceptions of aging (SPA) significantly influence cardiovascular health. Individuals who feel older than their chronological age or hold negative views of aging are 40% more likely to develop heart conditions and nearly twice as likely to experience strokes. Addressing these psychological factors can enhance traditional prevention efforts.²⁴

CVD is also bidirectionally linked to other chronic conditions. Multimorbidity—the presence of two or more chronic diseases in an individual—is increasingly common among aging populations and complicates disease management. For instance:

Diabetes: Shared risk factors like obesity and hypertension increase CVD susceptibility. 25,26

Cancer: Survivors of cancer often face heightened CVD risk due to the disease's biological mechanisms and cardiotoxic treatments.²⁷

Chronic Respiratory Conditions: Diseases like COPD and asthma elevate cardiovascular risk and contribute to mortality.²⁸

Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD): CKD heightens risks of hypertension, heart failure, and atherosclerosis, often going undiagnosed in early stages.²⁹,³⁰

Many patients also experience cardiorenal-metabolic syndrome—a complex interplay of CVD, kidney disease, and metabolic disorders like type 2 diabetes. These conditions fuel one another, complicating disease management. For example, poor kidney function can worsen high blood pressure, metabolic dysfunction can drive insulin resistance, and CVD can accelerate organ damage.^{31, 32, 33} With 1 in 3 American adults affected by at least three of these risk factors, recognizing and addressing these interrelated conditions is crucial.³⁴

CVD prevention extends beyond heart health—it lowers risks for other chronic diseases, enhances overall well-being, and delivers measurable health gains, particularly for aging populations with multimorbidity.³⁵



Defining Prevention Along a Continuum

CVD prevention spans four interconnected stages-**primordial**, **primary**, **secondary**, **and tertiary**-each playing a key role in reducing risk and improving outcomes. A lifelong, comprehensive strategy is essential, particularly as aging populations require sustained interventions.

- **Primordial Prevention:** Primordial prevention targets the root causes of cardiovascular risk before they emerge, creating environments, communities, and lifestyles that promote heart health. Interventions address factors such as poor diets, sedentary behavior, and harmful social or environmental conditions.³⁶
- **Primary Prevention:** Primary prevention aims to stop the disease before it starts by identifying and addressing existing risk factors like elevated cholesterol, hypertension, and smoking. Strategies include promoting healthy behaviors such as regular exercise, balanced diets, and tobacco avoidance, alongside routine screenings and early intervention.³⁷
- **Secondary Prevention:** For individuals diagnosed with CVD or those who have experienced a cardiac event, secondary prevention helps prevent further complications. It includes risk factor management through lifestyle changes, medication, and regular monitoring.^{38,39}
- **Tertiary Prevention:** This stage focuses on managing chronic conditions like heart failure or advanced CVD. The goal is to prevent further deterioration, improve quality of life, and maintain functional independence through tailored interventions that address mobility challenges and physical disability.⁴⁰

Primordial Prevention	Primary Prevention	Secondary Prevention	Tertiary Prevention
Subclinical No noticeable symptoms, but underlying changes are detectable with tests.		Clinical Symptoms are present and noticeable.	
Preventing the development of risk factors that lead to disease.	Preventing disease onset by addressing risk factors.	Detecting and treating disease early to stop its progression.	Reducing complications and managing symptoms of established disease.
Community-wide policies promoting healthy diets and physical activity.	Encouraging smoking cessation to reduce CVD risk.	Managing blood pressure in patients with diagnosed CVD to prevent heart attacks or strokes.	Cardiac rehabilitation after a heart attack to prevent future events.

The Prevention Continuum



Examples of the Prevention Continuum

LDL Management

Managing LDL cholesterol is central to CVD prevention, emphasizing early detection, aggressive intervention, and sustained treatment. In primary prevention, early and routine LDL testing helps identify elevated levels before they lead to CVD. A reduction of just 1 mmol/L lowers the risk of CVD events by approximately 23%, reinforcing the importance of early and sustained intervention.⁴¹ While lifestyle modifications, such as a heart-healthy diet, regular exercise, and tobacco avoidance are foundational, many individuals— especially those with familial hypercholesterolemia (FH) or other high-risk conditions— require lipid-lowering therapies (LLTs) like statins or combination treatments to achieve optimal LDL levels and prevent long-term cardiovascular complications.⁴²,⁴³

FH, a genetic condition causing dangerously high cholesterol levels from an early age, significantly increases the risk of premature CVD. FH affects 1 in 250 people and accounts for nearly 20% of all heart attacks in individuals under 45 years old.⁴⁴,⁴⁵ Routine LDL screening and early intervention are critical to preventing severe cardiovascular outcomes.

For those with existing CVD, secondary and tertiary prevention focuses on intensive LDL reduction to prevent recurring cardiovascular events and slow disease progression. Statins and other LLTs, combined with ongoing medical supervision and adherence, are essential for improving long-term health.⁴⁶,⁴⁷,⁴⁸ By integrating LDL management across all prevention stages, from early detection to post-event treatment, proactive intervention remains a cornerstone of cardiovascular health.

Cardiac Rehabilitation

CR is a proven secondary and tertiary prevention strategy that aids recovery following heart attacks, heart failure, or cardiac surgery. CR programs integrate exercise, education, and lifestyle support to reduce cardiovascular mortality by up to 25% and recurrent heart attacks by 38%.^{49,50} For aging populations, CR is crucial in maintaining functional independence and improving quality of life. However, its underutilization-especially among older adults, women, and minority groups-highlights the need for expanded access and targeted outreach.^{51,52,53}





The Economic Case for Prevention

Prevention improves health outcomes, reduces hospitalizations, and strengthens healthcare systems. It is also a cost-effective strategy to curb the rising economic burden of CVD. Without action, annual cardiovascular-related expenses in the U.S. could quadruple from \$393 billion to \$1.49 trillion, while productivity losses may increase 54%, from \$234 billion to \$361 billion.⁵⁴



A 5% reduction in blood pressure levels in England and Wales could save €100 million annually.



In the same region, a 5% reduction in cholesterol levels could save €80 million.⁵⁵



Team-based hypertension management in the U.S. could prevent tens of thousands of cardiovascular events, saving Medicare up to \$900 million over five years.



Self-measured blood pressure monitoring in the U.S. generates up to \$19.34 per dollar spent, reducing long-term costs by nearly \$7,800 per person.⁵⁶

Prevention also reduces the high costs of acute events. A single heart attack can exceed \$20,000 per patient in direct medical expenses, not including follow-up care, productivity losses, and other downstream impacts.⁵⁷ Scalable prevention measures significantly cut these long-term costs by addressing risk factors before they escalate.⁵⁸

Innovative and Equitable Solutions

As aging populations drive higher rates of chronic diseases, innovative prevention approaches are vital. Virtual cardiac rehabilitation programs, for instance, help reduce geographic disparities and expand access to proven interventions.⁵⁹ Policies promoting equitable access to preventive care—including screenings, counseling, and community-based initiatives—further reduce health disparities while delivering strong economic returns.



Case Studies: Governments Advancing CVD Prevention through Innovation, Early Detection, and Cost-Saving Strategies

Governments worldwide increasingly recognize CVD prevention as both a public health and economic priority. While approaches vary, key trends are emerging: earlier screening, expanded treatment access, scalable technology-driven prevention, and national action plans.

Countries with strong prevention policies—such as Singapore's integrated national strategy and Indonesia's widespread screening initiatives—expect improved health outcomes and reduced long-term healthcare costs.⁶⁰,⁶¹ At the policy level, the EU Council Conclusions on Improving Cardiovascular Health signal growing momentum for structured, continent-wide prevention efforts, calling for earlier detection, expanded treatment access, and greater investment in research and innovation.⁶²,⁶³

The following case studies illustrate how nations are integrating prevention into healthcare frameworks, providing insights on innovation, policy, and economic sustainability.

Germany and Czechia

Germany and the Czechia highlight both progress and opportunities in CVD prevention. Since 2013, Czechia 's National Cardiovascular Programme has driven prevention efforts and is now being updated to integrate advances in diagnosis, therapy, and prevention. During its EU Presidency, the country also championed the Prague Declaration, advocating for universal pediatric screening for familial hypercholesterolemia—a cost-effective, lifesaving measure. Additionally, the Czechia is pushing for a European action plan on CVD to unify prevention strategies across member states.⁶⁴

Germany advances CVD prevention through initiatives like the National Heart Alliance and proposed Healthy Heart Act, which promotes early detection through check-ups starting at age 25 and structural heart disease screenings for older adults. The country is also lowering the threshold for prescribing lipid-lowering therapies and expanding telemedicine for chronic heart failure. However, challenges remain in access, reimbursement, and care pathways.⁶⁵,⁶⁶





United States

The bipartisan HEARTS Act targets sudden cardiac arrest in young people, particularly student-athletes, through education, risk assessment, and preparedness. This early intervention approach aims to foster healthier hearts across the lifespan, addressing CVD risks from youth to older adulthood.^{67, 68}

However, measuring prevention's full economic impact remains challenging, as cost projections typically span just 10 years. The Preventive Health Savings Act seeks to extend this timeframe to 30 years, allowing policymakers to capture the broader long-term benefits of prevention.^{69,70} Continued advocacy and policy advancements are essential to sustaining progress.

Indonesia

Recognizing prevention's cost-effectiveness, Indonesia has expanded public health initiatives, including 8,000 mini community healthcare clinics focused on screening for hypertension, diabetes, and cholesterol.⁷¹ The 2024 Digital Health Blueprint further integrates mobile health applications, while telemedicine platforms like HaloDoc and programs such as SMARThealth are improving access to preventive care in underserved areas.⁷²

As Indonesian Health Minister Budi Gunadi Sadikin noted at a public discussion on CVD prevention and screening:

"Bankers love numbers, and the numbers tell a powerful story. Countries like Japan and Singapore, which prioritize prevention, achieve longer life expectancy with significantly lower per capita health spending. Here in Indonesia, we've screened 60 million adults for critical health risks like blood pressure, blood sugar, and cholesterol—just the beginning of our 140 million target."⁷³

Indonesia's approach highlights the economic and public health benefits of early detection and management, offering valuable lessons for nations seeking to reduce healthcare costs while improving population health outcomes.





Policy-Driven Solutions for CVD Prevention

Barriers to Prevention

Preventing CVD is hindered by challenges at the individual, provider, systemic, and societal levels, complicating efforts to reduce its burden. Many patients lack awareness of risk factors, struggle with adherence to lifestyle changes or medications, and face financial and logistical barriers to accessing appropriate treatments. These obstacles prevent individuals from effectively managing their condition with the most suitable interventions.⁷⁴

Access barriers extend globally. In Asia, the median availability of generic statins is just 5.4%.⁷⁵ In the UK, systemic delays further hamper prevention efforts. By November 2024, roughly 10,000 patients had been waiting over a year for cardiac care, and nearly 40% of those in need of time-sensitive treatment had waited over 18 weeks. These delays can lead to preventable cardiac events and complications.^{76,77}

Healthcare providers also encounter significant constraints, including time limitations, resource shortages, and difficulties in accurately assessing cardiovascular risk.⁷⁸ In a national sample of U.S. primary care physicians, only 41% reported calculating CVD risk in clinic, citing time-consuming processes as a primary barrier.⁷⁹

Systemic and societal factors further exacerbate these issues. Limited access to healthy foods, high costs of nutritious options, and workforce shortages create additional barriers to effective prevention.⁸⁰ Overcoming these obstacles requires coordinated action, integrating patient education, healthcare system improvements, and evidence-based policy reforms to drive equitable and sustainable prevention strategies.

Opportunities and Policy Actions

CVD prevention presents a major opportunity to strengthen health systems, improve outcomes, and advance global health. Policymakers, governments, and health systems must take proactive steps to integrate prevention into national strategies—emphasizing early detection, equitable access, and innovative solutions that address the social determinants of health (SDOH). This shift requires recognizing prevention as a high-value investment that supports population health, economic stability, and long-term healthcare sustainability. By investing in prevention infrastructure, governments can make considerable progress in reducing the global CVD burden.

National Action Plans (NAPs) for cardiovascular health offer a structured approach to overcoming systemic barriers. By setting clear and measurable targets, defining timelines, and ensuring accountability, these plans drive meaningful change and align resources effectively.⁸¹





"Governments need to lead in tackling the unnecessary and enormous burden of avoidable preventable CVD. Join the call for national CVD plans which set targets, timelines and demand accountability." Neil Johnson, CEO, Global Heart Hub⁸²

Key Policy Actions

Expand Access to Prevention, Treatment, and Community-Based Care

- Increase routine screenings, including LDL cholesterol tests, to enable early identification and management of risk factors.⁸³
- Ensure timely access to evidence-based treatments, including LDL-lowering therapies. Establish regulatory pathways to streamline access to preventive cardiovascular care and support the availability of innovative treatments when needed.
- Address systemic barriers—such as food insecurity, housing instability, and financial health—by integrating SDOH-focused interventions into patient care.
- Utilize community organizations and local health hubs to deliver preventive education, screenings, and treatment adherence support-improving engagement across diverse populations.

Leverage Innovation for Scalable Solutions

- Expand telemedicine, wearable technology, and Al-driven tools to enhance early detection, facilitate remote care, and address workforce shortages.^{84,85}
- Scale up virtual cardiac rehabilitation, particularly for populations facing access barriers, including women, older adults, and minority groups.
- Strengthen digital health solutions to improve long-term medication adherence and track patient progress, ensuring continuity of care.





Establish Measurable Prevention Metrics

- Develop data-driven benchmarks to track risk factor management, treatment compliance, and reductions in acute CVD events.
- Implement transparent reporting systems to monitor disparities and gaps in careenabling targeted, evidence-based prevention strategies.
- Align national and global health policy goals with proven prevention outcomes, ensuring accountability and measurable progress.

Foster Integrated, Interdisciplinary Care

- Break down silos by fostering collaboration across care teams —including cardiologists, endocrinologists, geriatricians, neurologists, mental health providers, community health workers, care partners, and patients.
- Embed lifelong cardiovascular care and survivorship models into health systems to ensure seamless transitions between prevention and treatment.⁸⁶
- Establish coordinated patient navigation systems to improve adherence, reduce hospitalizations, and enhance long-term health outcomes.

Call to Action:

Reducing the global CVD burden requires bold, collaborative action. By embedding prevention into national and global health strategies, and implementing well-defined National Action Plans, policymakers can drive measurable progress in cardiovascular health. Investing in prevention strengthens economies, enhances quality of life, and ensures healthcare systems remain resilient in the face of aging populations and rising disease burdens.⁸⁷



Aging with Heart Alliance

The Aging with Heart Alliance convenes a diverse group of experts from around the globe—from CVD, aging and beyond—to align networks, collaborate on messaging, and create urgency for policy changes at the intersection of CVD and aging.

Global Coalition on Aging

The Global Coalition on Aging aims to reshape how global leaders approach and prepare for the 21st century's profound shift in population aging. GCOA uniquely brings together global corporations across industry sectors with common strategic interests in aging populations, a comprehensive and systemic understanding of aging, and an optimistic view of its impact. Through research, public policy analysis, advocacy, and strategic communications, GCOA is advancing innovative solutions and working to ensure global aging is a path for fiscally sustainable economic growth, social value creation and wealth enhancement.

For more information about the Aging with Heart Alliance contact:

Melissa Mitchell Executive Director mmitchell@globalcoalitiononaging.com Michiel Peters Head of Advocacy Initiatives mpeters@globalcoalitiononaging.com

The Aging with Heart Alliance is made possible through support from MSD.



References

1.Mahmood, T., & Shapiro, M. D. (2021). The Questions on Everyone's Mind: What is and Why Do We Need Preventive Cardiology?. Methodist DeBakey cardiovascular journal, 17(4), 8-14. https://doi.org/10.14797/mdcvj.698

2. Joynt, K. E., Mitchell S.V. Elkind, Aparicio, H. J., Commodore-Mensah, Y., Sarah, Dowd, W. N., Hernandez, A. F., Khavjou, O., Michos, E. D., Palaniappan, L., Penko, J., Remy Poudel, Roger, V. L., & Kazi, D. S. (2024). Forecasting the Burden of Cardiovascular Disease and Stroke in the United States Through 2050–Prevalence of Risk Factors and Disease: A Presidential Advisory From the American Heart Association. Circulation, 150(4). https://doi.org/10.1161/cir.00000000001256

3. Chong, B., Jayanth Jayabaskaran, Silingga Metta Jauhari, Chan, S. P., Goh, R., Tze, M., Li, H., Chin, Y. H., Kong, G., Anand, V. V., Wang, J.-W., Muthiah, M., Jain, V., Mehta, A., Lim, S. L., Foo, R., Figtree, G. A., Nicholls, S. J., Mamas, M. A., & Januzzi, J. L. (2024). Global burden of cardiovascular diseases: projections from 2025 to 2050. European Journal of Preventive Cardiology. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurjpc/zwae281

4. Vasan, R. S., Enserro, D. M., Xanthakis, V., Beiser, A. S., & Seshadri, S. (2022). Temporal Trends in the Remaining Lifetime Risk of Cardiovascular Disease Among Middle-Aged Adults Across 6 Decades: The Framingham Study. Circulation, 145(17). https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.121.057889

5. ASCVD Professional Education Tool Kit. (2024). Www.heart.org. https://www.heart.org/en/professional/quality-improvement/ascvd/ascvd-prof-ed-tool-kit

6. Rout, A., Duhan, S., Umer, M., Li, M., & Kalra, D. (2023). Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease risk prediction: current state-of-the-art. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/heartjnl-2023-322928</u> 7. Mahmood, T., & Shapiro, M. D. (2021). The Questions on Everyone's Mind: What is and Why Do We Need Preventive Cardiology?. Methodist DeBakey cardiovascular journal, 17(4), 8–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.14797/mdcvi.698</u>

8. Joynt, K. E., Mitchell S.V. Elkind, Aparicio, H. J., Commodore-Mensah, Y., Sarah, Dowd, W. N., Hernandez, A. F., Khavjou, O., Michos, E. D., Palaniappan, L., Penko, J., Remy Poudel, Roger, V. L., & Kazi, D. S. (2024). Forecasting the Burden of Cardiovascular Disease and Stroke in the United States Through 2050–Prevalence of Risk Factors and Disease: A Presidential Advisory From the American Heart Association. Circulation, 150(4). https://doi.org/10.1161/cir.0000000001256

9. Rikhi, R., & Shapiro, M. D. (2022). Assessment of Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease Risk in Primary Prevention. Journal of cardiopulmonary rehabilitation and prevention, 42(6), 397-403. https://doi.org/10.1097/HCR.00000000000746

10. Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington. (2023). Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) primary prevention guideline. https://wa-

provider.kaiserpermanente.org/static/pdf/public/guidelines/ascvd-primary.pdf

11. Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington. (2023). Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) primary prevention guideline. https://wa-

provider.kaiserpermanente.org/static/pdf/public/guidelines/ascvd-primary.pdf

12. World heart federation. (2023). CVD Prevention. World Heart Federation. <u>https://world-heart-federation.org/what-we-do/prevention/</u>

13. Karunathilake, S. P., & Ganegoda, G. U. (2018). Secondary Prevention of Cardiovascular Diseases and Application of Technology for Early Diagnosis. BioMed research international, 2018, 5767864. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/5767864

14. Esmaeili, P., Roshanravan, N., Ghaffari, S., Mesri Alamdari, N., & Asghari-Jafarabadi, M. (2024). Unraveling atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease risk factors through conditional probability analysis with Bayesian networks: insights from the AZAR cohort study. Scientific Reports, 14(1), 4361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-024-55141-2</u>

15. Kwang II Kim. (2023). Risk Stratification of Cardiovascular Disease according to Age Groups in New Prevention Guidelines: A Review. Journal of Lipid and Atherosclerosis, 12(2), 96–96. https://doi.org/10.12997/jla.2023.12.2.96

16. Okada, K., Haze, T., Kikuchi, S., Kirigaya, H., Hanajima, Y., Tsutsumi, K., Kirigaya, J., Nakahashi, H., Gohbara, M., Kimura, Y., Kosuge, M., Ebina, T., Sugano, T., & Hibi, K. (2024). Early, Intensive and Persistent Lipid-Lowering Therapy for Secondary Prevention of Acute Coronary Syndrome. Journal of atherosclerosis and thrombosis, 31(12), 1748–1762. <u>https://doi.org/10.5551/jat.64988</u>

T2. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. (2024, October 28). Atherosclerosis - What Is Atherosclerosis? Www.nhlbi.nih.gov. <u>https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/atherosclerosis</u>
18. Goldman, R., & Clark, C. (2018). What Are the Recommended Cholesterol Levels by Age? Healthline. <u>https://www.nealthline.com/health/high-cholesterol/levels-by-age</u>
19. Global Coalition on Aging. (n.d.). Healthy heart for healthy aging: The need for awareness, innovation, and collaboration in cardiovascular health. Retrieved from https://globalcoalitiononaging.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/GCOABayer_CVD-and-HAA_FINAL_pdf

20. World Heart Federation. (2023). WORLD HEART REPORT 2023 CONFRONTING THE WORLD'S NUMBER ONE KILLER. In World Heart Federation. <u>https://world-heart-federation.org/wp-content/uploads/World-Heart-Report-2023.pdf</u>

21. Rodgers, J. L., Jones, J., Bolleddu, S. I., Vanthenapalli, S., Rodgers, L. E., Shah, K., Karia, K., & Panguluri, S. K. (2019). Cardiovascular Risks Associated with Gender and Aging. Journal of cardiovascular development and disease, 6(2), 19. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jcdd6020019</u>

22. Costantino, S., Paneni, F., & Cosentino, F. (2016). Ageing, metabolism and cardiovascular disease. The Journal of physiology, 594(8), 2061-2073. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP270538

23. Heart Research Institute. (2024). Risk Factors for Heart Disease. Heart Research Institute. https://www.hri.org.au/health/learn/risk-factors/risk-factors-for-cardiovascular-disease

24. Heart Research Institute. (2024). Risk Factors for Heart Disease. Heart Research Institute. <u>https://www.hri.org.au/health/learn/risk-factors/risk-factors-for-cardiovascular-disease</u> 25. Vasan, R. S., Enserro, D. M., Xanthakis, V., Beiser, A. S., & Seshadri, S. (2022). *Temporal Trends in the Remaining Lifetime Risk of Cardiovascular Disease Among Middle-Aged Adults Across* 6 Decades: The Framingham Study. Circulation, 145(17). <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.121.057889</u>

26. Global Heart Hub. (2020). Promoting cardiovascular health in people living with, or at risk of, type 2 diabetes: Priorities for collaboration between the diabetes and cardiovascular patient communities. https://globalhearthub.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/Cardio-Diabetes-Roundtable-report_GHH_e-copy.pdf

27. Kuwabara, M. (2024). The interplay between cancer and cardiovascular disease. Hypertension Research. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41440-024-02015-9

28. Carter, P., Lagan, J., Fortune, C., Bhatt, D. L., Vestbo, J., Niven, R., Chaudhuri, N., Schelbert, E. B., Potluri, R., & Miller, C. A. (2019). Association of Cardiovascular Disease With Respiratory Disease. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 73(17), 2166–2177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2018.11.063</u>

29. Said, S., & Hernandez, G. T. (2014). The link between chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease. Journal of nephropathology, 3(3), 99–104. <u>https://doi.org/10.12860/jnp.2014.19</u> 30. Jankowski, J., Floege, J., Fliser, D., Böhm, M., & Marx, N. (2021). Cardiovascular Disease in Chronic Kidney Disease. Circulation, 143(11), 1157–1172.

https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.120.050686

31. Ndumele, C. E., Janani Rangaswami, Chow, S. L., Neeland, I. J., Tuttle, K. R., Khan, S. S., Coresh, J., Mathew, R., Baker-Smith, C. M., Carnethon, M. R., Jean-Pierre Després, Ho, J. E., Joseph, J. J., Kernan, W. N., Khera, A., Mikhail Kosiborod, Lekavich, C. L., Lewis, E. F., Kevin Bryan Lo, & Ozkan, B. (2023). Cardiovascular-Kidney-Metabolic Health: A Presidential Advisory From the American Heart Association. Circulation, 148(20). <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/cir.0000000000001184</u>

32. Safar, M. E., London, G. M., & Plante, G. E. (2004). Arterial stiffness and kidney function. Hypertension (Dallas, Tex. : 1979), 43(2), 163–168.

https://doi.org/10.1161/01.HYP.0000114571.75762.b0

33. Zarich, S. W. (2005). Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Metabolic Syndrome–Impact of Insulin Resistance on Lipids, Hypertension, and the Development of Diabetes and Cardiac Events. US Cardiology Review, 2(1), 35–38. https://doi.org/10.15420/usc.2005.2.1.35

34. What Is CKM Syndrome? (n.d.). Cleveland Clinic. https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/diseases/cardiovascular-kidney-metabolic-syndrome

35. Forman, D. E., Maurer, M. S., Boyd, C., Brindis, R., Salive, M. E., Horne, F. M., Bell, S. P., Fulmer, T., Reuben, D. B., Zieman, S., & Rich, M. W. (2018). Multimorbidity in Older Adults With Cardiovascular Disease. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 71(19), 2149–2161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2018.03.022</u>

36. World heart federation. (2023). CVD Prevention. World Heart Federation. https://world-heart-federation.org/what-we-do/prevention/

37. World heart federation. (2023). CVD Prevention. World Heart Federation. https://world-heart-federation.org/what-we-do/prevention/

38. Secondary Prevention. (n.d.). CVD Roadmaps. https://world-heart-federation.org/cvd-roadmaps/whf-global-roadmaps/secondary-prevention/

39. WHF Roadmap for Secondary Prevention of CVD - 2023 Update. (n.d.). World Heart Federation. <u>https://world-heart-federation.org/news/roadmap-for-secondary-prevention-of-</u> cardiovascular-disease/

40. World heart federation. (2023). CVD Prevention. World Heart Federation. https://world-heart-federation.org/what-we-do/prevention/

41. Webb, J., Gonna, H., & Ray, K. K. (2013). Lipid management: maximising reduction of cardiac risk. Clinical medicine (London, England), 13(6), 618-620.

https://doi.org/10.7861/clinmedicine.13-6-618

42. O'Riordan, M. (2024, September). Getting to Cholesterol Goal Early After MI Lowers Risk of Recurrent Events. TCTMD.com. https://www.tctmd.com/news/getting-cholesterol-goal-early-after-mi-lowers-risk-recurrent-events

43. Ference, B. A., Ginsberg, H. N., Graham, I., Ray, K. K., Packard, C. J., Bruckert, E., Hegele, R. A., Krauss, R. M., Raal, F. J., Schunkert, H., Watts, G. F., Borén, J., Fazio, S., Horton, J. D., Masana, L., Nicholls, S. J., Nordestgaard, B. G., van de Sluis, B., Taskinen, M. R., Tokgözoglu, L., ... Catapano, A. L. (2017). Low-density lipoproteins cause atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. 1. Evidence from genetic, epidemiologic, and clinical studies. A consensus statement from the European Atherosclerosis Society Consensus Panel. European heart journal, 38(32), 2459–2472. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehx144</u>

44. Arnold, N., & Koenig, W. (2023). Familial Hypercholesterolemia: Pitfalls and Challenges in Diagnosis and Treatment. Reviews in cardiovascular medicine, 24(8), 236. https://doi.org/10.31083/j.rcm2408236

45. Mao, J., Michos, E., Vasanth Sathiyakumar, M.D, Ahmed, C. D., & Martin, S. (2019). Familial Hypercholesterolemia: What Is It and Who Gets It? US News & World Report; U.S. News & World Report: https://health.usnews.com/health-care/for-better/articles/familial-hypercholesterolemia-what-is-it-and-who-gets-it

46. Prevalence of Cholesterol Treatment Eligibility and Medication Use Among Adults - United States, 2005-2012. (2024).

https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6447a1.htm

47. Gao, Y., Shah, L. M., Ding, J., & Martin, S. S. (2023). US Trends in Cholesterol Screening, Lipid Levels, and Lipid-Lowering Medication Use in US Adults, 1999 to 2018. Journal of the American Heart Association. https://doi.org/10.1161/jaha.122.028205

48. Vijay Kumar Malesu. (2024, July 9). News-Medical. News-Medical. https://www.news-medical.net/news/20240708/Lifelong-low-LDL-C-levels-key-to-preventing-cardiovasculardisease.aspx

49. Winnige, P., Vysoky, R., Dosbaba, F., & Batalik, L. (2021). Cardiac rehabilitation and its essential role in the secondary prevention of cardiovascular diseases. World journal of clinical cases, 9(8), 1761–1784. https://doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v9.i8.1761

50. CDC. (2024, May 24). How Cardiac Rehabilitation Can Help Heal Your Heart. Heart Disease. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/heart-disease/about/cardiac-rehabilitation-treatment.html</u> 51. Grace, S. L., Shanmugasegaram, S., Gravely-Witte, S., Brual, J., Suskin, N., & Stewart, D. E. (2009). Barriers to cardiac rehabilitation: DDES AGE MAKE A DIFFERENCE?. Journal of cardiopulmonary rehabilitation and prevention, 29(3), 183–187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/HCR.0b013e3181a3333c</u>

52. Mathews, L., & Brewer, L. C. (2021). A Review of Disparities in Cardiac Rehabilitation: EVIDENCE, DRIVERS, AND SOLUTIONS. Journal of cardiopulmonary rehabilitation and prevention, 41(6), 375–382. https://doi.org/10.1097/HCR.00000000000659

53. Mathews, L., & Brewer, L. C. (2021). A Review of Disparities in Cardiac Rehabilitation: EVIDENCE, DRIVERS, AND SOLUTIONS. Journal of cardiopulmonary rehabilitation and prevention, 41(6), 375–382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/HCR.00000000000000659</u>

54. Kazi, D. S., Mitchell S.V. Elkind, Deutsch, A., Dowd, W. N., Heidenreich, P., Khavjou, O., Mark, D., Mussolino, M. E., Ovbiagele, B., Patel, S. S., Remy Poudel, Weittenhiller, B., Powell-Wiley, T. M., & Joynt, K. E. (2024). Forecasting the Economic Burden of Cardiovascular Disease and Stroke in the United States Through 2050: A Presidential Advisory From the American Heart Association. Circulation, 150(4). https://doi.org/10.1161/cir.000000000001258

55. Barton, P., Andronis, L., Briggs, A., McPherson, K., & Capewell, S. (2011). Effectiveness and cost effectiveness of cardiovascular disease prevention in whole populations: modelling study. BMJ, 343(jul28 1), d4044–d4044. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d4044</u>

56. CDC. (2024). Health and economic benefits of high blood pressure interventions. National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (NCCDPHP). https://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/priorities/high-blood-pressure.html

57. The True Cost of a Heart Attack in the US. (n.d.). Www.resolvemedicalbills.com. <u>https://www.resolvemedicalbills.com/blog/the-true-cost-of-a-heart-attack-in-the-us</u> 58. Barton, P., Andronis, L., Briggs, A., McPherson, K., & Capewell, S. (2011). Effectiveness and cost effectiveness of cardiovascular disease prevention in whole populations: modelling study. BMJ, 343(jul28 1), d4044-d4044. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d4044</u>

59. Redfern, J., Gallagher, R., Maiorana, A., Candelaria, D., Hollings, M., Gauci, S., O'Neil, A., Chaseling, G. K., Zhang, L., Thomas, E. E., Ghisi, G. L. M., Gibson, I., Hyun, K., Beatty, A., Briffa, T., Taylor, R. S., Arena, R., Jennings, C., Wood, D., & Grace, S. L. (2024). Cardiac rehabilitation and secondary prevention of CVD: time to think about cardiovascular health rather than rehabilitation. Deleted Journal, 1(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s44325-024-00017-7</u>

60. Singapore Heart Foundation, Singapore Cardiac Society, & Chapter of Cardiologists of the Academy of Medicine, Singapore. (2024). Strategies to prevent cardiovascular disease in Singapore: A call to action. Annals of the Academy of Medicine Singapore, 53, 23–33. <u>https://www.myheart.org.sg/wp-content/uploads/2024/07/Strategies-to-Prevent-Cardiovascular-Disease-in-Singapore.pdf</u>

61. South China Morning Post. (2025, February 12). South China Morning Post. <u>https://www.scmp.com/week-asia/health-environment/article/3298409/indonesias-prabowo-launches-another-quick-win-priority-free-health-checks</u>

62. Machalska, M. (2024, December 3). European Union takes action for the cardiovascular health of its 440 million people - EACH. EACH. <u>https://www.cardiovascular</u>alliance.eu/european-union-takes-action-for-the-cardiovascular-health-of-its-440-million-people/

63. World Heart Federation. (2024, December 3). World Heart Federation. <u>https://world-heart-federation.org/news/european-union-takes-action-for-the-cardiovascular-health-of-its-440-million-people/</u>

64. <u>https://www.facebook.com/FHEurope</u>. (2021). Reduce premature and preventable deaths caused by CVD and diabetes - Familial Hypercholesterolaemia (FH) Europe. Familial Hypercholesterolaemia (FH) Europe. Familial Hypercholesterolaemia (FH) Europe. Tamilial Hypercholesterolaemia (FH) Europe. Tamilia (F

65. Heart Failure Policy Network. (2023). From guidelines to action: Opportunities for heart failure advocacy in Germany. The Health Policy Partnership.

https://www.hfpolicynetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/From-guidelines-to-action-opportunities-for-heart-failure-advocacy-in-Germany.pdf

66. UK, M. (2024, August 16). How Credible is Germany's Proposed Healthy Heart Law? Medscape UK. <u>https://www.medscape.co.uk/viewarticle/how-credible-germanys-proposed-healthy-heart-law-2024a1000f2t</u>

67. Pallone's HEARTS Act to Address Sudden Cardiac Arrest in Young People Passes House. (2024, September 23). Congressman Frank Pallone.

https://pallone.house.gov/media/press-releases/pallones-hearts-act-address-sudden-cardiac-arrest-young-people-passes-house

68. Pallone's HEARTS Act to Address Sudden Cardiac Arrest in Young People Passes House. (2024, September 23). Congressman Frank Pallone.

https://pallone.house.gov/media/press-releases/pallones-hearts-act-address-sudden-cardiac-arrest-young-people-passes-house

69. Falardeau, J. (2024, March 25). House Takes Steps to Get Truer Accuracy in Healthcare Estimates. ACA Today. <u>https://www.acatoday.org/news-publications/house-takes-steps-to-get-truer-accuracy-in-healthcare-estimates/</u>

70. Muoio, D. (2024, March 20). House-passed bill instructs Congressional Budget Office to take longer view when grading preventive health laws. Fierce Healthcare. <u>https://www.fiercehealthcare.com/regulatory/house-passed-bill-instructs-congressional-budget-office-take-longer-view-when-grading</u> 71. (2025). Youtu.be. https://youtu.be/GOTWKfzHVOw?feature=shared

72. Bambang Dwiputra, Ade Meidian Ambari, Dwita Rian Desandri, Serlie Fatrin, Naufal Zuhdi, & Radi, B. (2024). The Future of Digital Healthcare in Cardiac Prevention Programme in Indonesia: From Bedside to Boardroom. Journal of Asian Pacific Society of Cardiology, 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.15420/japsc.2023.46</u>

73. (2025). Youtu.be. <u>https://youtu.be/GOTWKfzHV0w?feature=shared</u>

74. George, C. E., Ramadas, D., Norman, G., Mukherjee, D., & Rao, T. (2016). Barriers to cardiovascular disease risk reduction: Does physicians' perspective matter?. Indian heart journal, 68(3), 278–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbj.2015.08.014

75. Li, C., Spencer, G., Husain, M. J., Nugent, R., Auzenne, D., Kostova, D., & Richter, P. (2024). Barriers to accessibility of medicines for hyperlipidemia in low- and middle-income countries. *PLOS global public health*, 4(2), e0002905. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0002905

76. Catsis, S., Champneys, A. R., Hoyle, R., Currie, C., Enright, J., Cheema, K., Woodall, M., Angelini, G., Nadarajah, R., Gale, C., & Gibbison, B. (2023). Process modelling of NHS cardiovascular waiting lists in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. *BMJ open*, *13*(7), e065622. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2022-065622

77. British Heart Foundation. (2025, October). New data shows rise in average ambulance response times for heart attacks and strokes. Bhf.org.uk; British Heart Foundation. <u>https://www.bhf.org.uk/what-we-do/news-from-the-bhf/news-archive/2025/january/new-data-shows-rise-in-average-ambulance-response-times-for-heart-attacks-and-strokes</u>

 (2025). Consultant360.com. <u>https://www.consultant360.com/articles/evidence-based-cardiovascular-disease-prevention-challenges-assessing-risk-office-practice</u>
Tuzzio, L., O'Meara, E. S., Holden, E., Parchman, M. L., Ralston, J. D., Powell, J. A., & Baldwin, L. M. (2021). Barriers to Implementing Cardiovascular Risk Calculation in Primary Care: Alignment With the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research. *American journal of preventive medicine*, 60(2), 250–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2020.07.027
Prevention of cardiovascular disease: recent achievements and remaining challeng. (2017). Escardio.org. <u>https://www.escardio.org/Journals/E-Journal-of-Cardiology-</u> Practice/Volume-15/prevention-of-cardiovascular-disease-recent-achievements-and-remaining-challeng

81. GHH_Joanna, & GHH_Joanna. (2024, September 29). Global Heart Hub Calls for Every Country toHave A National Action Plan for CVD. Global Heart Hub.

https://globalhearthub.org/global-heart-hub-calls-for-every-country-to-have-a-national-action-plan-for-cvd/

82. (2025). Linkedin.com. <u>https://www.linkedin.com/posts/neil-johnson-85806a12_useheart-worldheartday-heartyes-activity-7245770233896927232-mkRi/?</u> utm_source=share&utm_medium=member_desktop

83. Kenneally, E., & Kenneally, E. (2024, March 20). The cardiovascular patient community unites to create the first global manifesto calling for early detection and diagnosis of cardiovascular disease. Global Heart Hub. <u>https://globalhearthub.org/manifesto-early-detection-and-diagnosis/</u>

84. Laranjo, L., Lanas, F., Sun, M. C., Chen, D. A., Hynes, L., Imran, T. F., Kazi, D. S., Kengne, A. P., Komiyama, M., Kuwabara, M., Lim, J., Perel, P., Piñeiro, D. J., Ponte-Negretti, C. I., Séverin, T., Thompson, D. R., Tokgözoğlu, L., Yan, L. L., & Chow, C. K. (2024). World Heart Federation Roadmap for Secondary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease: 2023 Update. *Global heart*, 19(1), 8. https://doi.org/10.5334/gh.1278

85. Redfern, J., Gallagher, R., Maiorana, A., Candelaria, D., Hollings, M., Gauci, S., O'Neil, A., Chaseling, G. K., Zhang, L., Thomas, E. E., Ghisi, G. L. M., Gibson, I., Hyun, K., Beatty, A., Briffa, T., Taylor, R. S., Arena, R., Jennings, C., Wood, D., & Grace, S. L. (2024). Cardiac rehabilitation and secondary prevention of CVD: time to think about cardiovascular health rather than rehabilitation. Deleted Journal, 1(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s44325-024-00017-7</u>

86. Redfern, J., Gallagher, R., Maiorana, A., Candelaria, D., Hollings, M., Gauci, S., O'Neil, A., Chaseling, G. K., Zhang, L., Thomas, E. E., Ghisi, G. L. M., Gibson, I., Hyun, K., Beatty, A., Briffa, T., Taylor, R. S., Arena, R., Jennings, C., Wood, D., & Grace, S. L. (2024). Cardiac rehabilitation and secondary prevention of CVD: time to think about cardiovascular health rather than rehabilitation. Deleted Journal, 1(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s44325-024-00017-7</u>

87. Global Heart Hub. (2024). Achieving early detection and diagnosis of cardiovascular disease: A manifesto for change. <u>https://globalhearthub.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/2024/03/Manifesto_Final_e-copy.pdf